
 
                                      DEPARTMENT OF THE NAVY 
                                     BOARD FOR CORRECTION OF NAVAL RECORDS 
                                             701 S. COURTHOUSE ROAD, SUITE 1001  
                                                       ARLINGTON, VA  22204-2490 

 

   

             Docket No. 10580-23 

                       Ref: Signature Date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dear Petitioner: 

 

This is in reference to your application for correction of your naval record pursuant to Title 10, 

United States Code, Section 1552.  After careful and conscientious consideration of relevant 

portions of your naval record and your application, the Board for Correction of Naval Records 

(Board) found the evidence submitted insufficient to establish the existence of probable material 

error or injustice.  Consequently, your application has been denied.     

 

Because your application was submitted with new evidence not previously considered, the Board 

found it in the interest of justice to review your application.  A three-member panel of the Board, 

sitting in executive session on 8 July 2024, has carefully examined your current request.  The 

names and votes of the panel members will be furnished upon request.  Your allegations of error 

and injustice were reviewed in accordance with administrative regulations and procedures 

applicable to the proceedings of the Board.  Documentary material considered by the Board 

consisted of your application together with all material submitted in support thereof, relevant 

portions of your naval record, and applicable statutes, regulations, and policies, to include to the 

25 August 2017 guidance from the Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Personnel and 

Readiness (Kurta Memo), the 3 September 2014 guidance from the Secretary of Defense 

regarding discharge upgrade requests by Veterans claiming post-traumatic stress disorder 

(PTSD) (Hagel Memo), and the 25 July 2018 guidance from the Under Secretary of Defense for 

Personnel and Readiness regarding equity, injustice or clemency determinations (Wilkie Memo).  

The Board also considered the advisory opinion (AO) of a qualified mental health provider, 

which was previously provided to you.  Although you were afforded an opportunity to submit a 

rebuttal, you chose not to do so. 

 

You previously applied to this Board and were granted partial relief on 17 March 2023.  The 

Board, purely as a matter of clemency, upgraded your Other Than Honorable characterization of 

service to a General (Under Honorable Conditions) characterization.  The facts of your case 

remains substantially unchanged, to include the evidence of your traumatic brain injuries 

occurring between November 1982 and March 1983 due to loss of consciousness during 

competitive judo tournaments.   
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The Board carefully considered all potentially mitigating factors to determine whether the 

interests of justice warrant relief in your case in accordance with the Kurta, Hagel, and Wilkie 

Memos.  These included, but were not limited to, your desire that the Board reconsider its partial 

grant relief and, instead, further upgrade your discharge to fully “Honorable” and change your 

narrative reason for separation to “Secretarial Authority.”  The Board noted that, other than 

minor changes in the argument presenting your mental health claims, you have submitted 

identical medical and clemency records, with the only new documents being related to the 

Board’s decision in your partial grant of relief.   For purposes of clemency and equity 

consideration, the Board considered the evidence you submitted in support of your application. 

 

Because you continue to contend that post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) or another mental 

health (MH) condition contributed to your misconduct, the Board requested a new AO.  The AO 

stated in pertinent part: 

 

Petitioner was appropriately referred for psychological evaluation and properly 

evaluated on multiple occasions during his enlistment. He received no formal 

mental health diagnosis, other than alcohol and substance use disorders, which were 

noted to be in remission or not pertinent to his misconduct. His diagnoses were 

based on observed behaviors during his period of service, the information he chose 

to disclose, and the psychological evaluations performed. Post-service, the VA has 

granted service connection for PTSD. Unfortunately, available records are not 

sufficiently detailed to establish clinical symptoms in service or provide a nexus 

with his misconduct. While UA could be a behavioral indicator of avoidance related 

to PTSD, the Petitioner’s statements indicate his UA was related to personal 

stressors, including marital discord and financial mismanagement, rather than 

avoidance of trauma reminders.  

 

The AO concluded, “it is my clinical opinion there is post-service evidence from the VA of a 

diagnosis of PTSD that may be attributed to military service.  There is insufficient evidence to 

attribute his misconduct to PTSD or another mental health condition.” 

 

After thorough review, the Board concluded these potentially mitigating factors were insufficient 

to warrant relief.  Specifically, the Board determined that your misconduct, as evidenced by your 

SPCM and failure to pay just debts, outweighed these mitigating factors.  In making this finding, 

the Board considered the seriousness of your misconduct and found that your conduct showed a 

complete disregard for military authority and regulations.  With respect to liberal consideration, 

the Board concurred with the AO regarding the clear lack of nexus between your UA misconduct 

or financial mismanagement and your contended PTSD.  Specifically, the Board concurred with 

its previous decision in that you “made contemporaneous statements explaining the factors that 

contributed to [your] misconduct.  Those explanations, which [you] carried forward in [your] 

current application, provide a far more likely explanation for [your] conduct than the potential 

unpredictable impact of an undiagnosed PTSD condition.”   

 

The Board noted that you were granted overseas leave with the express directive to ensure your 

visa and passport were in order, and that you had a commercial ticket which would ensure your 

return travel.  The Board found that you intentionally and knowingly presented, but then 

returned, your commercial ticket in spite of this requirement and chose to wager your timely 






